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Introduction

The United States Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (*EEOC”) is the law
enforcement agency of the federal government charged with the administration, interpretation
and enforcement of the Age Discrimination in Employment Act (“ADEA”), 29 U.S.C. § 621 er
seq. In July of 2000, EEOC opened a directed investigation' into Defendant Sidley Austin
Brown & Wood’s (“Defendant”) compliance with the ADEA in connection with Defendant’s
expulsion of 32 attorney “partners™ from the firm “partnership” in the fall of 1999 and its
announcement of a change to its mandatory retirement age. EEOC opened its administrative
investigation after (1) Defendant’s managing partners were quoted repeatedly in the press saying
both that the status of older partners had been changed to create opportunity for “younger
lawyers” at the firm and that the firm was changing its retirement age, and (2) EEOC received a
confidential complaint from one of the ousted partners.

In its motion for partial summary judgment, Defendant contends that EEOC v. North
Gibson Sch. Corp., 266 F.3d 607 (7" Cir. 2001) bars EEOC’s claim for any individual relief in
this action because no downgraded or mandatorily retired partner filed a Charge of

Discrimination. North Gibson, a “timely charge” case that did not involve an EEOC directed

I A directed investigation is an investigation opened by the EEOC absent an individual
first filing a Charge of Discrimination. See 29 C.F.R. 1626.4. An EEOC investigation
alternatively can be triggered by an individual Charge of Discrimination. Id.

’By its use of the term “partners” to refer to these individuals throughout the brief, EEOC
does not intend to convey that they were in fact partners rather than employees for the purposes
of the ADEA. To the contrary, EEOC’s position is that attorney employees who have been
designated partners but who are not on the firm’s Executive or Management Committees are not
true partners for purposes of the ADEA.
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investigation, held that absent a Charge of Discrimination filed within 300 days of an event of
discrimination, the EEOC could not seek relief for aggrieved individuals. The Court reasoned
that because an individual could not bring suit on his own behalf absent a timely charge, the
EEOC — which was deemed to be “standing in the shoes™ of the victims -- could not seek relief
on his behalf.

The law is clear that EEOC can seek victim-specific relief in this case and that
Defendant’s reliance on North Gibson is wholly misplaced. The “standing in the shoes of”
doctrine of North Gibson has been rejected by the Supreme Court in EEOC v. Waffle House, Inc.,
534 U.S. 279 (2002), which makes clear that the EEOC can seek victim-specific relief even when
individuals would be barred from bringing an action on their own behalf. Further, the North
Gibson analysis has been repudiated by the Seventh Circuit itself in EEOC v. Board of Regents of
the University of Wisconsin, 288 F.3d 296 (7" Cir. 2002). Even if North Gibson were of some
interest after Waffle House, it is inapplicable to EEOC enforcement actions arising from EEOC
directed ADEA investigations; any application North Gibson might have is limited to actions
arising from individual Charges of Discrimination. See EEOC v. Johnson & Higgins, Inc., 91
F.3d 1529, 1536 (2d Cir. 1996)(“[W]here no director has filed a charge with the EEOC, and,
indeed, none supports the lawsuit . . . the EEOC may commence actions in the district court fo
obtain both legal and equitable relief . . . Section 16(c) of the FLSA . . . authorizes EEOC to
bring actions on behalf of aggrieved employees and to seek relief including back wages and

liquidated damages.”)(emphasis added).
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Background

A. Sidley Implements “The Plan” and the Local Press Reports On It

In the fall of 1999, Defendant told 32 partners that they had to accept a downgrade from
“partner” to “counsel” or “senior counsel” or leave the firm. In either event, they were no longer
partners. At the same time, Defendant also reduced its mandatory retirement age from 63 to a
sliding scale from 60-65. Defendant has referred to these changes as “The Plan.”

The media was quick to report on the events at Defendant, one of the most visible of all
large law firms. In December of 1999, the Chicago Lawyer reported that “Sidley & Austin
targets equity status and retirement age.” Plaintiff’s Statement of Undisputed Facts (“PSF”), at
1. According to the same article, Defendant’s actions involved: (1) “requir[ing] attorneys to
retire between the ages of 60 and 65, rather than at age 65;” and (2) stripping some of
Defendant’s partners of their equity status. PSF, at 12, The chairman of Defendant’s executive
committee, Thomas Cole, described the affected partners as “nearly 20 o/der attorneys and a
smaller number of younger attorney partners.” PSF, at § 3 (emphasis added).

The Chicago Lawyer article confirmed prior reports of thinning in the partner ranks at
Defendant. Crain’s Chicago Business had reported that “Sidley & Austin has changed its
retirement age from 65 to a policy under which retirement is expected between ages 60 and 65 . .
.. As a result, nearly 20 older partners are being offered senior counsel status ... .” PSF,at 94
(emphasis added).

The American Lawyer provided more details in December 1999, saying that the change in
partner status was part of a strategic plan announced at the annual partners meeting on October

13, 1999, and reporting that “The affected partners, who are mostly in their mid-fifiies and early
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sixties, will lose their equity status as of January 1, according to managing partner Charles
Douglas.” PSF, at Y 5-6. Chairman Douglas also was reported as explaining “that his firm’s
strategy will expand opportunities for younger pariners and associates, as senior partners
transfer their work to them. To encourage this youth movement, the firm also lowered its
retirement age from 65 to a flexible 60-65.” PSF, at § 7 (emphasis added).

In a letter to Defendant’s clients published on the firm’s own Internet website, Co-
Chairmen Cole and Douglas themselves emphasized that “the theme of all of these changes was
the creation of opportunity for our younger lawyers.” Letter from Executive Committee
Chairman Thomas A. Cole and Management Committee Chairman, Charles W. Douglas to Our
Clients, Alumni, Colleagues and Friends (April 5, 2000), PSF, at { 8.

B. A Confidential Complainant From Within Defendant Contacts the EEOC

During the same period, EEOC received a confidential complaint of age discrimination in
connection with the Plan: One of the expelled partners contacted the EEOC — without informing
the EEOC of his name — and requested that the EEOC investigate his downgrade from partner
status at Defendant. PSF, at 99 11-12. The EEOC received the confidential complaint within
300 days of the complainant being stripped of his partnership status. PSF, atJ11.

Along with a letter, the confidential complainant provided the EEOC with a copy of the
firm’s partnership agreement, PSF, at  13. Three months later, the same affected partner sent
another letter addressing whether partners are properly regarded as employees for purposes of the
ADFEA. PSF, at Y 14. An additional letter listing all of Defendant’s lawyers by practice group
and age followed. PSF, at § 15. According to the confidential complainant, “There were 15

practice groups firmwide in which a partner was demoted to senior counsel. In 12 of these
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groups, the oldest partner, or the oldest group of partners, was demoted.” PSF, at 1 15-16.

C. EEOC Conducts a Directed Investigation

Acting pursuant to its statutory authority, the Chicago District Office opened a directed
investigation of Defendant’s compliance with the ADEA, including but not limited to the 1999
partner demotions and reduction in the retirement age. See 29 C.F.R. 1626.4 (1991) (“The
Commission may, on its own initiative, conduct investigations of employers . . ..”). On July 5,
2000, EEOC notified Defendant of the investigation in a letter that included a designated
“Charge No.” and which was accompanied by a Request For Information (“RFI”). PSF, at 99 9-
10.

Defendant provided only partial responses to this and a subsequent RFI. Accordingly,
EEOC served a subpoena on Defendant, and, when Defendant refused to comply, filed and
prevailed in a subpoena enforcement action before Judge Lefkow in the Northern District of
Tlinois. EEOC v. Sidley & Austin, N.D. Iilinois No. 01 C 9635 (2/11/2002), 2002 WL 206485,
88 Fair Empl. Prac. Cas. (BNA) 64. Defendant appealed that decision to the Seventh Circuit,
which, in an opinion by Circuit Judge Richard Posner, ordered Defendant to comply in
significant part with the EEOC subpoena. EEOC v. Sidley, 315 F.3d 696 (7" Cir. 2002).

After reading about the EEOC’s subpoena enforcement action, one of the 32 partners who
was downgraded, David Alan Richards, came forward to the EEOC and gave testimony under
oath. PSF, at § 17. Richards testified that his downgrade came as a complete shock to him.

Richard’s Deposition Transcript, at p. 70, attached to PSF as Attachment 6 to Exhibit E. Prior to

3Charge numbers are routinely assigned to EEOC investigations whether based upon an
individual Charge of Discrimination, a Commissioner’s Charge or the direction of the District
Director.
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the meeting in which he was told that he was being stripped of his partnership status, Richards
“had no inkling of the topic” of the meeting, and in the course of that meeting, there was no
criticism of Richard’s performance at the firm. /4 at p. 62. Instead, during the meeting it was
explained that his expulsion from the partnership “was part of refashioning the firm. It was part
of . . . a trend that was happening among law firms and professional service firms generally, that
the retirement age was going to be 60 except for a few very special people.” Id at p. 64. At the
time of his expulsion, Richards was the oldest member of Defendant’s real estate practice group
in its New York office.

D. EEOC Issues LOD and Conciliation Fails

Upon the completion of its investigation, on July 14, 2004, EEOC issued its Letter of
Determination (“LOD™) finding reasonable cause to believe that Defendant violated the ADEA
by downgrading and expelling partners on account of their age in or about October of 1999 and
by maintaining a mandatory retirement age. PSF, at{ 18. Conciliation discussions between the
parties did not result in an agreement, and on September 29, 2004, the EEOC issued to
Defendant a Notice of Failure of Conciliation. PSF, at§19. On January 13, 2005, the EEOC
filed this lawsuit seeking monetary and injunctive relief.

Argument

Defendant’s argument that North Gibson bars EEOC from seeking individual relief in this
action fails for two independent reasons: (1) the North Gibson “stand in the shoes of” analysis
has been rejected by the United States Supreme Court and repudiated by the Seventh Circuit, and
(2) even if the North Gibson approach were assumed arguendo to have some remaining vitality,

it has no application here. The statutory language of the ADEA, the EEOC regulations
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implementing the ADEA, and the only case to precisely address the issue (Johnson & Higgins)
make clear that in a case predicated upon a directed investigation (which North Gibson was not),
EEOC can pursue claims for individual victim-specific relief.*

| North Gibson Is Fundamentally Inconsistent with the Supreme Court’s Subsequent
Decision in Waffle House

A, Waffle House

The Supreme Court’s decision in EEOC v. Waffle House, Inc., 534 U.S. 279 (2002) and
the Seventh Circuit’s decision in EEOC v. Board of Regents of the University of Wisconsin, 288
F.3d 296 (7" Cir. 2002) establish that in an EEOC enforcement action such as this, the EEOC
can seek victim-specific relief even if the individual victims are barred from seeking relief on
their own behalf, These holdings are fundamentally inconsistent with North Gibson. Further,
North Gibson says nothing about EEOC authority in a case predicated upon an EEOC directed
investigation and has never been extended to a case brought by the EEOC predicated upon a

directed investigation.

4 In an apparent attempt to add a rhetorical in terrorem affect to its North Gibson

argument, Defendant suggests throughout its brief that, were the Court to deny its instant motion,
“EEOC would have extreme powers under the ADEA to bring otherwise barred claims going
back to 1978.” Defendant’s Brief at 9. Defendant’s saying it is so, however, does not make it so,
and Defendant’s contention is one about which North Gibson has virtually nothing to say. The
issues in North Gibson, in Wisconsin Board of Regents, in Johnson & Higgins, and in Waffle
House (discussed infra) all relate to the statutory authority of EEOC to obtain victim specific
relief in situations in which the individuals upon whose behalf the agency seeks relief could not
personally seek that relief in a private action. That is the statutory authority issue before the
Court. There may well come a day in this litigation when it will be appropriate for the Court to
address the issue of the temporal limits on the class of persons aggrieved by Defendant’s age
discrimination, but that cannot be done now without any discovery at all and on the basis of a
bare-bones Complaint and Answer and a motion for partial summary judgment on a different
issue. Therefore, EEOC will not in this brief burden the Court with an unnecessary discussion of
Defendant’s “back to 1978" rhetorical flourishes.

7
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In North Gibson the court affirmed the dismissal of EEQC’s claims for monetary relief
under the ADEA on behalf of a group of employees where EEOC’s enforcement action arose
from an individual Charge of Discrimination which the court deemed untimely. Since private
individuals in litigation brought by themselves are barred by the statute from seeking relief on
their own behalf in the absence of a timely Charge, the Seventh Circuit concluded that the EEOC
was also barred in a federal government action predicated upon an individual Charge from
secking relief on their behalf, 266 F.3d at 616.° According to this analysis, under the ADEA, the
EEOC “steps into the shoes” of the individual for whom the agency is seeking relief and if the
individual is barred from seeking relief, so too is the EEOC. 266 F.3d at 615. In reaching its
decision, the North Gibson court relied, inter alia, on the Fourth Circuit’s opinion in EEOC v.
Waffle House, 193 F.3d 805, 812-13 (4™ Cir. 1999) and the Second Circuit’s opinion in EEOC v.
Kidder, Peabody & Co. 298, 300-01 (2d Cir. 1998), which both held that the EEOC’s claims for
individual monetary relief were precluded by prior arbitration agreements between the employee
and the employer. The Supreme Court’s decision in Waffle House explicitly overrules both these
decisions. See discussion infra.

Waffle House rejects North Gibson's analysis and holds that the EEOC does not stand in
the shoes of individuals for whom it is seeking relief. In Waffle House, the Supreme Court
recognized the EEQC’s authority to go forward with a claim for monetary and injunctive relief
on behalf of an employee who signed a mandatory arbitration agreement covering the

discrimination at issue and who thus would be barred from bringing a court action in his own

SUnder § 626(d) of the ADEA, the timely filing of a Charge of Discrimination is a
prerequisite to a civil action by an individual.
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name for such relief. Where the statute grants EEOC enforcement authority, according to the
Supreme Court, “EEOC is in command of the process.” 534 U.S. at 291. “It is the public
agency’s province — not that of the court — to determine whether public resources should be
committed to the recovery of victim specific relief.” Jd. at 291-92. The Court emphasized that
the EEOC seeks “to vindicate the public interest . . . even when it pursues entirely victim-specific
relief” Id at 296.

In its motion for partial summary judgment, Defendant contends that Waffle House is not
applicable to the case at bar because it involved an ADA claim and not a claim under the ADEA.
Yet, Waffle House itself made clear that it applies in the context of an ADEA case. See Waffle
House, Id. at 285 (overruling EEOC v. Kidder, Peabody & Co., 156 F.3d 298 (2d Cir. 1998)
(holding that EEOC could not bring an ADEA claim for individual relief where the employee
had a signed a mandatory arbitration agreement)). In addition, Waffle House has been applied in
the Title VII context. See In re Bemis Company, Inc., 279 F.3d 419, 422 (7" Cir.
2002)(Applying Waffle House to an EEOC Title VII action and holding that Rule 23 does not
apply to EEOC as it does to private individuals: “[E]ven after the addition of compensatory and
punitive damages to the EEOC’s arsenal of remedies the EEOC does not sue as the representative
of the discriminated-against employees who may benefit from the relief it obtains and hence is
not barred from suing by the fact that the employees had agreed to submit their claims to binding
arbitration. . . ‘The EEOC does not stand in the employee’s shoes.””).

Defendant also contends that Waffle House is limited to EEOC’s authority to seek relief
in the context of an arbitration agreement. The Seventh Circuit, however, in Board of Regents,

explicitly applied Waffle House s holding to an ADEA claim involving barriers to litigation by
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an individual other than a mandatory arbitration agreement. Thus, Defendant’s argument that
the holding in Waffle House does not extend to the ADEA or to circumstances other than
arbitration has already been flatly rejected in this Circuit.

In Board of Regents, EEOC accused the University of Wisconsin Press of discriminating
against certain individuals on the basis of their age in violation of the ADEA. For reasons of 1 1"
Amendment immunity, the individuals affected by the discrimination could not sue. Defendant,
citing North Gibson (the University’s brief is attached as Exhibit 2, see page 5), argued “If the
individuals cannot sue, the EEOC should not be able to either.” 288 F.3d at 300. The
University claimed, “the Commission is merely seeking redress of individual acts of
discrimination; the Commission is simply standing in the shoes of the individuals and is acting in
privity with them as their representative.” Id. at 299-300 (emphasis added). The Seventh Circuit
unequivocally rejected this argument: “Whatever wind might originally have been in the sails of
this argument has been knocked out by EEOC v. Waffle House...” Id. at 300. Accordingly, the
Seventh Circuit affirmed the jury’s award of victim-specific damages, despite the fact that the
victims were precluded from seeking relief on their own behalf. /d. at 304,

Together, Waffle House and Board of Regents make absolutely clear that even in ADEA
cases involving barriers to individual litigation other than mandatory arbitration, the EEOC can

seek victim-specific relief even when the victims themselves are precluded from doing so.°

*The EEOC’s independent litigation authority under the ADEA has long been recognized
by the courts. See Gilmer v. Interstate/Johnson Lane Corp., 500 U.S. 20, 28 (1991)(“the
EEOC’s role in combating age discrimination is not dependent of the filing of a charge”); EEOC
v. Tire Kingdom, Inc., 80 F.3d 449, 451 (11" Cir. 1996)(EEOC may investigate and bring suit
under the ADEA whether or not an employee has filed a timely charge); EEOC v. American &
Efird Mills, Inc., 964 F.2d 300, 303-04(4th Cir. 1992)(same).

10
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Accordingly, Defendant’s attempt to limit EEOC’s statutory enforcement authority on grounds
that the individuals for whom the EEOC is seeking relief could not themselves pursue a suit for
such relief should be rejected here.

B. The Res Judicata Cases Cited by Defendant Are Inapposite

In support of its position, Defendant cites a series of cases that have no bearing on this
case and are readily distinguishable in any event. Not one involves a case in which EEOC was
seeking relief for a group of affected individuals after a directed investigation and where there
has been no prior litigation by the individuals. Instead, all of the cases cited by Defendant
involve the doctrine of res judicata or claim preclusion.” Any discussion in these cases of privity
between the EEOC and the individuals for whom the agency seeks relief relates solely to issues
of claim relitigation and has no applicability to the case at bar.

EEOQOC v. US. Steel Corp., 921 F.2d 489, 495 (3d Cir. 1990), precluded EEOC from
obtaining individual relief on behalf of employees who had filed earlier unsuccessful individual
suits on the identical claims. The case addresses EEOC’s litigation authority only in a situation
where the individuals for whom the EEOC is seeking relief have already tried and failed to obtain
such relief in a prior court action on the same claim. EEOC v. Harris Chernin, Inc., 10 F.3d

1286, 1291 (7" Cir. 1993) held the same thing — that the EEOC is barred from recovering back

’ The only case Defendant cites that does not deal with claim preclusion is EEOC v.
Copelio, No. 02 C 3768, 2004 WL 765891 (N.D.IIl. April 7, 2004), which addresses the temporal
scope of the class (i.e. whether the EEOC can seek relief for an individual employed only outside
the 300-day charge filing period under Title VII). Copello is a case in which a timely charge was
filed by an individual and the only issue before the court was the scope of the class entitled to
relief based on that charge. Copello contains no discussion of whether in the absence of a
Charge of Discrimination from an individual, the EEOC has the authority to seek victim specific
relief.

11
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pay, liquidated damages, or reinstatement on behalf of an individual who had previously litigated
the same claim. Again, there is no discussion of EEOC’s litigation authority where there has been
no prior litigation of the same claim by an individual. Vines v. University of Louisiana at
Monroe, 398 F.3d 700 (5" Cir. 2005), granted an injunction barring employees from relitigating
state age discrimination claims where EEOC had filed and lost age discrimination claim on their
behalf. The case has no holding regarding the EEOC’s litigation authority, and recognizes that
“[T)he EEQC is not always to be considered the representative of individuals on whose behalf it
brings an ADEA action.” Id.

In Waffle House the Supreme Court acknowledged that the nature and amount of the
victim-specific relief the EEOC is able to obtain can be affected by the victim’s own conduct,
and referred to issues of prior settlement or res judicata. In so acknowledging, the Court stated
that it “‘goes without saying that the courts can and should preclude double recovery by an
individual.” 534 U.S. at 297, quoting General Telephone, 446 U.S. at 333. The Court was
explicit, however, in saying that this is a separate issue from that of what relief the EEOC has
authority to seek: “It simply does not follow from the cases holding that the employee's conduct
may affect the EEOC's recovery that the EEOC's claim is merely derivative.” /d. 534 U.S. at
297-298. “The fact that ordinary principles of res judicata, mootness or mitigation apply to
EEOQC claims does not . . . render the EEOC a proxy for the employee.” Id  Thus, while these
cases may have an impact upon the nature and amount of recovery for particular individuals, they
do not -- and in the post-Waffle House era cannot -- control whether the EEOC can seek any

individual relief in this case at all.
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IL The EEOC Has Statutory Authority to Sue for Victim-Specific Relief in a Case
Predicated on a Directed Investigation

Even if North Gibson is assumed arguendo to retain a modicum of vitality, it has no
applicability to this case. Unlike North Gibson which arose out of an untimely individual charge,
this case arises out of a directed investigation opened by the EEOC within the 300-day limitation
period. In the sole published decision to address the EEOC’s authority to obtain individual relief
in an ADEA case predicated upon a directed investigation, the Second Circuit recognized
EEOC’s authority to sue for victim-specific relief in the absence of an individual Charge of
Discrimination. EEQC v. Johnson & Higgins, 91 F.3d 1529 (2" Cir. 1996). As the Second
Circuit recognized in Johnson & Higgins, the ADEA, its implementing regulations, and the
FLSA provisions explicitly incorporated into the ADEA make clear that victim-specific relief is
available in such actions. Defendant neither discusses nor even cites Johnson & Higgins.

A, Johnson & Higgins

In Johnson & Higgins, EEOC conducted a directed investigation under the ADEA into
Johnson & Higgins’ mandatory retirement policy applicable to members of its board of directors.
The court observed that although “no retired or current directors claimed to be aggrieved by the
alleged discriminatory practices, the EEQC pursued the ADEA investigation on its own
initiative.” 91 F.3d at 1533. Following unsuccessful conciliation efforts, the EEOC filed suit
“alleging that the Board’s mandatory retirement policy for directors violated the ADEA and
seeking, infer alia, a permanent injunction enjoining J&H from enforcing the alleged
discriminatory practice, and reinstatement, back wages, and prejudgment interest for directors
adversely affected by the policy.” /d.

Johnson & Higgins argued that because none of the directors filed a Charge of

13
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Discrimination with the EEOC and none supported EEOC’s lawsuit against it, the EEOC had no
authority to bring suit on behalf of the directors. In support of this contention, Johnson &
Higgins argued that the directors signed waivers of any ADEA claims. The court assumed,
without deciding, that the waivers were valid. Id. At 1536.

The court observed that even where no director has filed a charge or supports the suit th.';lt
pursuant § 626(b) of the ADEA, the EEOC may commence an action to obtain both legal and
equitable relief. Jd Section 626(b) of the ADEA, referred to by the court, specifically provides:

In any action, brought to enforce this chapter, the court shail have jurisdiction to

grant such legal or equitable relief as may be appropriate to effectuate the

purposes of this chapter, including without limitation judgments compelling

employment, reinstatement or promotion, or enforcing the liability for amounts

deemed to be unpaid minimum wages or unpaid overtime compensation.

Id. (emphasis added). Nowhere does the ADEA suggest that this monetary relief is available in
cases predicated on an individual Charge of Discrimination and not in cases predicated on a
directed investigation.

Furthermore, the Johnson & Higgins court observed that § 626(b) of the ADEA
specifically incorporates the enforcement provisions of the FLSA which “authorize[ ] the EEOC
to bring actions on behalf of aggrieved employees and to seek relief including back wages and
liquidated damages” absent a Charge of Discrimination or the consent of aggrieved individuals.
Id., citing Section 16(c) of the FLSA, 29 U.8.C. § 216(c).

Finally, the court observed that under “EEOC’s own regulations, the Commission has the
power to bring an action even when the aggrieved party does not wish to proceed.” Id, citing 29

C.F.R. § 1626.13 (1995). Section 1626.13 of EEOC’s regulations provides:

Because the Commission has independent investigative authority, see § 1626.4, it
may continue any investigation and may secure relief for all affected persons

14
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notwithstanding a request by the charging party to withdraw a charge.
Emphasis added.

Based on § 626(b) of the ADEA, § 216(c) of the FLSA specifically incorporated into the
ADEA, and EEOC’s regulations, the court concluded that EEOC had authority to bring its action
for injunctive and victim-specific monetary relief absent a Charge of Discrimination or consent
of any aggrieved individual. In the end, Johnson & Higgins paid $28 million.?

Johnson & Higgins is on all fours with the present action and compels the conclusion that
EEOC is empowered here to seek victim-specific relief for the ousted and mandatorily retired

partners of Defendant.’

*Johnson & Higgins was before the Second Circuit on defendant’s appeal from the
District Court’s “grant[ing] the EEOC’s motion for partial summary judgment on the issue of
liability, reserving judgment on the question of damages.” 159 F.3d at 1533; see EEQOC v.
Johnson & Higgins, 887 F.Supp. 682 (S.D.N.Y. 1995). After the Second Circuit’s affirmance of
summary judgment in favor of EEOQC, defendant “brought [in the District Court] the instant
motion for summary judgment as to damages” predicated upon releases it had procured from
affected class members while the appeal had been pending. EEOC v. Johnson & Higgins, 5
F.Supp. 2d 181, 182 (S.D.N.Y. 1998). The District Court held “that the waivers . . . are invalid
as a matter of law. The trial on the issue of damages will commence on October 5, 1998 as
previously scheduled.” /d. at 188. Settlement discussions followed, an on July 28, 1999, the
District Court entered a Consent Judgment providing for the payment of $28 million by
Defendant to the aggrieved claimants upon whose behalf EEOC had sued buf who had not filed
Charges of Discrimination. See EEOC v. Johnson & Higgins, S.D.N.Y. No. 93 C 481 Consent
Judgment (7/29/1999, Leonard Sand, U.S.D.J.), attached as Exhibit 1.

*The District Court in North Gibson ignored Johnson & Higgins on the theory that the
EEOC’s action for individual relief was lacking a public interest component. See EECOC v. North
Gibson, 2000 WL 33309722, n.2 (S.D.Ind. 2000). The Seventh Circuit opinion on appeal did
not even cite — much less discuss — Johnson & Higgins. In Waffle House, the Supreme Court
made clear that the EEOC acts in the public interest even when it seeks individual relief. 534
U.S. at 296.

15
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B. The FLSA

As Johnson & Higgins recognizes, the FLSA, whose enforcement provisions are
incorporated into the ADEA, permits the government to recover monetary damages even when
none of the potential recipients has requested or even consents to the government’s enforcement
action.

Section 626(b) of the ADEA states that “The provisions of this chapter shall be enforced
in accordance with the powers, remedies and procedures provided in sections 211(b), 216 (except
for subsection (a) thereof) and 217 of this title [“Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938, as
amended”].” 29 U.S.C. § 626(b).

Under § 216(c) of the FLSA, the government may act on its own initiative to recover
back wages. Section 216(c) of the FLSA authorizes “The Secretary to bring an action in any
court of competent jurisdiction to recover the amount of unpaid minimum wages or overtime
compensation and an equal amount as liquidated damages.” 29 U.S.C. § 216(c). Priorto 1974, §
216 of the FLSA required the Secretary of Labor to obtain prior written consent from the parties
aggrieved before suing for monetary relief. In 1974, Congress deleted from § 216 the
requirement of employee consent. Pub. L. 93-259, § 26, 88 Stat. 55,73 (1974). As the law
currently stands, therefore, the government may seek back wages and liquidated damages without
any employee request or Charge. See H.R. Rep. No. 93-13, at 41 (1974) reprinted in 1974

U.S.C.C.AN.2811,2825. "

"°The fact that the relevant FLSA amendments were adopted in 1974, seven years after
enactment of the ADEA, is of no consequence. The ADEA expressly incorporates sections 216
and 217 of the FLSA “as amended.” Publ. L. 90-202, § 7(b), 81 Stat. 602, 604 (1967). The “as
amended” language indicates that Congress intended the powers, remedies, and procedures of the
ADEA to evolve along with those of the FLSA. See Herrmann v. Cencom Cable Assocs., 978

16



Case 1:05-cv-00208 Document 17  Filed 05/10/2005 Page 22 of 59

The government (i.e., the Department of Labor) may sue without consent even though the
FLSA, like the ADEA, provides that a government enforcement action terminates an individual’s
right to file suit. Compare FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 216(b), (c) with ADEA, 29 U.S.C. § 626(c)(1).
The courts have uniformly recognized the government’s right to seck monetary relief under the
FLSA without a request or consent by an aggrieved individual. See Tony & Susan Alamo
Foundation v. Secretary of Labor, 471 U.S. 290 (1985)(“That the associates themselves
vehemently protest coverage under the Act makes this case unusual, but the purposes of the Act
require that it be applied even to those would decline its protections.”); International Ladies’
Garment Workers' Union v. Donovan, 722 F.2d 795, 809 (D.D.Cir. 1983)(“the Secretary may
bring actions to enforce [the FLSA] even absent the consent of the underpaid employees).
Accordingly, the Department of Labor’s enforcement authority is not premised on a complaint
from any individual."

Because the ADEA incorporates the FLSA’s enforcement procedures, the EEOC enjoys
the same authority to seck monetary relief under the ADEA in the absence of a Charge and after a

directed investigation that the Department of Labor enjoys under the FLSA.

F.2d 978, 983 (7" Cir. 1992)(most legislative cross-references incorporate subsequent
amendments). It is of no moment that this “as amended” language appears only in the Public
Law as it was enacted and not in the codified version of the statute. Where there is a conflict
between the law as enacted and as codified, the law as enacted controls. See United States v.
Welden, 377 U.S. 95, 98 n.4 (1964); Nashville Milk Co. v. Carnation Co., 238 F.2d 86, 89 (7
Cir. 1956), aff'd, 355 U.S. 373 (1958).

"Like the ADEA, the Equal Pay Act (“EPA™), 29 U.S.C. § 206, ef seq., incorporates
these same FLSA provisions. Here too, the courts have recognized the EEOC’s authority to
bring an action for individual relief in the absence of a request or consent from the affected
employee. See Donovan v. University of Texas, 643 F.2d 201 (5" Cir. 1981); EEOC v. Ferris
State College, 493 F. Supp. 707 (S.D.Mi. 1980).
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C. ADEA and Regulatory Provisions

In addition to incorporating the FLSA at 29 U.S.C. § 626(b), and in addition to explicitly
providing that monetary relief is available in any action brought by the EEOC at 29 U.S.C. §
626(b)(see discussion at p. 13, supra), the ADEA itself also makes clear that the EEQC may file
an enforcement action absent an individual Charge of Discrimination. Although the ADEA does
say that “no civil action may be commenced by an individual . . . until 60 days after a charge
alleging unlawful employment discrimination has been filed with the [EEOC],” 29 U.S.C. §
626(d)(emphasis added), it contains no comparable language restricting the EEOC’s ability to
file suit. See Tire Kingdom, 80 F.3d at 451 (“by its plain reading, [§ 626(d)] does not apply to
the EEOC.”).

The ADEA imposes only one prerequisite on the EEOC before it may initiate litigation:
the EEOC must first attempt to “effect voluntary compliance . . . through informal methods of
conciliation, conference, and persuasion.” 29 U.S. C. § 626((b); see also 29 C.F.R. § 1626.15(d).
The sole purpose of the individual’s Charge-filing requirement under § 626(d) is to allow the
EEQC a chance to conciliate before the individual files suit. See Lorillard v. Pons, 434 U.S. 575,
580 (1978); H.R. Rep. No. 805; at 10 (1967), reprinted in 1967 U.S.C.C.A.N. 2213, 2223. The
EEOC already has such a chance, of course, if it initiates an investigation on its own. Initiation
of a directed investigation also serves the purpose of providing defendant with notice that its

practices are under investigation.'?

12To serve the purposes of providing notice and an opportunity to conciliate, the
regulations implementing the ADEA provide that a Charge “shall be in writing and shall name
the prospective respondent and shall generally allege the discriminatory act(s).” 29 C.F.R. §
1626.6. Here, Defendant received a formal letter, including an assigned “charge number.” The
letter named Defendant and informed the Defendant that its compliance with the ADEA was
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EEOQC’s regulations implementing the ADEA confirm the EEOC’s ability to sue under
the ADEA for monetary relief absent a Charge of Discrimination. Under the applicable
regulations, the EEOC may conduct ADEA investigations “on its own initiative,” and it may
receive information regarding violations from “any source,” including from confidential
complainants as in this case. 29 C.F.R. §§ 1626.3 and 1626.4 (2001). The regulations provide:
“The Commission may, on its own initiative, conduct investigations of employers . . . . The
Commission shall . . . receive information concerning alleged violations of the Act, including
charges and complaints, from any source.” 29 C.F. R. § 1626.4. In addition, as set forth in the
discussion of Johnson & Higgins, supra, the regulations provide that the EEOC may secure relief
“for all affected persons” even if an employee withdraws a charge. 29 C.F.R. § 1626.13.

In summary, Johnson & Higgins, the statutory language of the ADEA, EEOC’s
regulations, and the FLSA provisions incorporated into the FLSA all compel the conclusion that
EEOC is entitled to seek victim-specific relief for the ousted and mandatorily retired partners.

D. Recovery of Individual Relief in Cases Arising Out of a Directed
Investigation Serves the Public Interest

To do as Defendant suggests and preclude even the possibility of any award of individual
relief, including monetary damages, in this case, which arises out of a directed investigation,
would eviscerate the law enforcement value of EEOC’s congressionally mandated authority to
conduct directed investigations. If an employer had no risk of a monetary award arising out of a

directed investigation, it would have little incentive to engage in meaningful conciliation

under investigation. An accompanying Request for Information made clear that the retirement
age for partners and the demotion of partners was at issue. Thus, any argument by Defendant
that it did not receive the timely notice or opportunity to conciliate that it would have if a charge
had been filed by an individual is without merit.
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discusstons or change its behavior prior to the filing of suit. As the Supreme Court has
recognized, “It is the reasonably certain prospect of a back pay award that ‘provide(s) the spur or
catalyst which causes employers and unions to self-examine’ and to strive to eliminate
discrimination.” Albemarle Paper Co. v. Moody, 422 U.S. 405, 417-18 (1975) (citation
omitted)."

There is no justification - in the language of the statute or as a practical matter — for
eliminating the back pay remedy and other forms of individual relief in all cases filed by the
EEOC after a directed investigation. Permitting Defendant to avoid liability for individualized

relief would grant Defendant a windfall unjustified by fact or law.

13 The U.S. Department of Labor also conducts administrative investigations and follow-
up federal litigation to obtain victim-specific monetary relief under the same section of the FLSA
incorporated by reference into the ADEA. Eliminating the availability of back pay in cases
arising out of a directed investigation pursuant to § 216(c) of the FLSA, would not only cause
grave harm to EEOC’s enforcement efforts, but also to the Department of Labor’s enforcement
efforts under the FLSA as at least 30% of the cases brought by the Department of Labor are
predicated on directed investigations without the request or consent of an aggrieved individual.
See U.S. Department of Labor 1999-2000 Report on Initiatives: Employment Standards
Administration Wage and Hour Division (February 2001), p. 11, attached as Exhibit 3 ("Over the
last decade, Wage and Hour has increased the proportion of its compliance efforts in ‘directed’ or
‘targeted’ investigations—as opposed to ‘complaint-based’ investigations—from 25 percent to 30
percent.") In view of their statutory foundation, it is virtually inescapable that acceptance of
Defendant’s argument with respect to EEOC’s enforcement authority in non-Charge situations
would also prejudice the Department of Labor’s enforcement authority.
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Conclusion
For the foregoing reasons, the EEOC respectfully requests that this Court deny
Defendant’s motion for summary judgment on EEOC’s claims of individual relief.

Respectfully Submitted,

John C. Hendrickson, Regional Attorney

Gregory M. Gochanour, Supervisory Trial Attorney
Deborah L. Hamilton, Trial Attorney

Laurie S. Elkin, Trial Attorney

Equal Employment Opportunity Commission

500 West Madison St., Room 2800

Chicago, IL. 60661

(312) 353-7726

Counsel for Plaintiff EEOC

May 10, 2005
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1. Kenneth Rewnrd 2,454,697
George H. Shatuck, Ir. 1,607,061
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INTRODUCTION

The defendant-appellant Board of Regents of the University of Wisconsin System ("Board™) submits this reply brief in support
of its appeal and those arguments presented in its initial brief. The parties agree that the issues presented for review and the
appropriate standard of review are those set forth in the Board's initial brief and in the brief submirred by the Equal Employment
Opportunity Commission (EEOC). The Board incorporates herein those arguments and factual recitations presented in its initial
brief,

RELEVANT STATEMENT OF FACTS

The EEQC's recitation of facts omirs several crucial factual matters essential to the court's review of the record. In addirion, the
EEQC's statement of facts intertwines facts, some contested, some disputed, with argument, Ar che risk of repeating certain facts
in the record, che Board once again brings the following facts to the court's attention,

It is undisputed that at no time was anyone ever hired to replace the four full-time academie staff charging parties, Rosalie
Robertson, Mary Braun, Joan Strasbaugh or Chuck Evenson in the Acquisitions or Marketing Departments at the University of
Wisconsin Press ("Press"). Other employees were hired after the layoff, May 1999 (Tr. 2-54), but none wete similarly situaced
to the charging parties. Those who were hired after the layoff were students, limited term employees ("LTEs™), and classified
staff. They were not hired for the positions which the charging parties had held and were not full-time academic staff.

Raphael Kadushin was the same age as Mary Braun, 46, two years younger than Joan Strasbaugh, and four years younger than
Rosalie Robertson {App. 143-144; Tr, 2-108). Professor Bethea and Mr. Salemson were both older than the charging parties
(App. 130; Tr. 2-81) and, because they had worked with the staf{:daﬂy, they were familiar with the skills, qualifications and
performance of each Press employee, including the charging parries (Tr. 1-284). When considering how to respond to the Press'
financial crisis, they believed that if there was no increase in the number of books published, if they focused on the humanities
with Raphael Kadushin in Acquisitions and reduced the social science and environmental and trade books, areas in which
Robertson, Braun, and Strasbaugh concentrated, they could eliminate two and one-half positions in the Acquisitions Department
{Tr. 2-34, 2-35, 2-36, 2-106, 2-107, 2-108, 2-113, 2- [14). With a reduction in the number of books preduced, they believed
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they could manage effectively with less marketing and publiciry, and thus could eliminate Evenson's position in direct mail and
Strasbaugh's half-time position in publicity. Id. Betry Steinberg, who had been ar che Press for 38 years, concurred with Bethea's
proposal (Tr. 2-158, 2- 160, 2-161).

The EEOC misstates the record when it claims that "Bethea, as a general matter, assumed a positive correlarion between youd'l
and effective job performance.” (EEOC brief at page 10, citing Tr. 129-30). For Bethea to do so would be ludicrous as he was as
old or older chan the four charging parties. There is no evidence that Professor Bethea and Mt. Salemson "doctored" the facts or
misled UW officials in order to achieve cuts (EEQC brief at page 10).

Professor Bethea and Mr. Salemson believed char all consideration of age for any reason was inappropriate (1. 2-49, 2-128).

None of the charging parties made any efforts to apply for positions at the Press after they were laid off, although they knew
positions were available {(Tt. 3-34 1o 3-37; 3-92, 3-93; 3-109 to 3-111; 3-145, 3-146).

ARGUMENT

. THE EEQC'S CLAIMS ARE BARRED BY ELEVENTH AMENDMENT IMMUNITY.

A. The argument that immunity entirely bars the EEOC's claims is propetly before the court asis a Iesser included argument
that, regardless, immunity bars monetary relief.

The EEOC concedes, as it must {¢.g., Higgins v. State of Mississippi, 217 F.3d 951, 953-54 (7th Cir. 2000)), that the Board's
immuniry may be first asserted on appeal, such that the argument that immunity entirely bars the EEQC's claims was not waived.
(EEQC brief, pp. 19-24.) Incongruously, however, the EEQOC contends that a lesser included argument -- that immunity bars
monetaty relief regardless of immunirty's effect on injunctive relief -- was waived because it was not raised below.

Why? Because the EEQC declares that an argument challenging only monetary relief cannot implicate immunity. (EEOC brief,
p. 23, n.6.) Arguments that immunity bars monetary relief are hardly transformed into waivable non-immunity arguments either
by injuncrive relief being available or by defendants acknowledging that fact. Cf. MSA Realty Corp. v. State of Ill., 990 F.2d 288,
291 (7th Cir. 1993) ("state officials may be sued in their official capacities for injunctive relief, although they may not be sued
for money damages™); Scotc v. Lacy, 811 F.2d 1153, 1153 (7th Cir. 1987) ("public officials may appeal immediately che
rejection of their defense of immunity from liability in damages, when a claim for an injunction is pending and will be tried no
matter the outcome of the appeal”); Burgess v. Lowery, 201 F.3d 942, 944 (7ch Cir. 2000), reh. & reh. en banc denied, cett,
denied, Lowery v. Burgess, 531 U.S. 817 (2000) ("*a plaintiff cannort block a defendant's right to take an immediate appeal from
a ruling that *** the *** defendant lacks immunity from a damages judgment merely by asking for injunctive relief as well as
damages"). No waiver occurred regarding either the argument that the Board's immunity entirely bars the EEOC's claims or the
lesser included argument that, regardless, its immunity bars monetary relief. E.g., Higgins, 217 F.3d at 953-54. Each argument,
asserting immunity, 1s properly before this court.

B. Iminunity batred Evenson, Robertsen, Strasbaugh and Braun from suing on the ADEA claims pursued in this case and the
EEQC stands in their shoes.

The EEQC concedes, as it must (Kimel v. Florida Board of Regents, 528 US. 62,91 {2000)), that the Board's immunity barred
Evenson, Roberrson, Strasbaugh and Braun from suing the Board on the ADEA claims putsued in this case. (EEOC brief, pp.
19-20.) The EEQC also seems to concede that, when it brings suit, as in this case, merely to enforce the rights of individuals, it
stands in the shoes of those individuals. (EEQC brief, pp. 19-24.) E.g., EEOC v. North Gibson School Corp., 266 F.3d 607,
614 (7th Cir, 2001).

C. If federal agencies may sue nonconsenting States metely to redress private claims of individual citizens which are barred by the
Eleventh Amendment, a critical constitutional distinction would evaporate.

The EEQC contends that it comports with the constitutional plan, and is inoffensive to the Eleventh Amendment, for a federal
agency to "'stand in the shoes™ (EEOC brief, p. 23) of the Board's former employees and pursue their ADEA claims as their
representative {e.g., EEOC v. North Gibson School Corp., 266 F.3d at 614), without any articulated direct interest of the
United States. (EEOQC brief, pp. 19-24.) If chis contention is accepted, the Eleventh Amendment would be subjected to the
mercy, and whim, of federal agencies, and a critical constitutional distincrion established by the Founders between the Federal and
State goverunents would evaporate. '

When courts state that the Elevench Amendment is inapplicable to actions brought by the United States, they assume that the
United States is pursuing real and direct interests in the suit. E.g., Alden v. Maine, 527 U.5. 706, 713, 755-56 (1999} (exercise
of "political responsibility” is required). Cf. West Virginia v. United States, 479 U.5. 305, 310-11 (1987} (immunirty no bar to
United States enforeing its own contracrual rights against West Virginia); U.S. v. State of Minnesota, 270 U.S. 181, 194
(1926)(immunity unavailable because "the United States has a real and direct interest in the matter presented for examination
and adjudication™); U.S. v. State of Michigan, 190 U.S. 379, 395 (1903) (no immunity when United States sued Michigan for
surplus monies after Michigan built a canal using "funds procured from the sale or other dispesition of the public lands of the
United States"); U.S. v. Tlexas, [43 LS. 621, 638-48 (1892} {immunity no bar to suit regarding Texas boundary wich United
States territory); U.S. v. State of North Carolina, 136 U.S. 211, 216-22 (1890) (suit seeking payment of interest owed to
United States as bondholder). The United States can have real and direct interests in suits that seek to stop States from
continuing to engage in patrerns and practices of misconduct intentionally violative of the Fourteenth or Fifteenth Amendments.
Eg. U.S. v. Mississippi, 380 U.S. 128, 138-41 {1965). It is critical to the vitality of the Unired States itself chat such egregious
disrespect for the constitutional structure be ended. E.g., id.

The question here, however, is whether the United States may, simply by standing in the shoes of a private citizen barred by a
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State's immunity, thereby avoid that bar. Jurisdictional inquiries that rum on the participation of the United States are not
satisfied by the United Stares merely being a party: instead the United States must be a real, rather than nominal, party. E.g., US,
Fidelity & Guaranty Co. v. U.S,, 204 U.S. 349, 356-59 (1907). See also U. §. for Use and Benefit of Romero v, Douglas Const.
Co., Inc., 531 F.2d 478, 481 (10th Cir. 1976); Danning v. U. S, 259 F.2d 303, 307-08 (9th Cir. 1958), cert. denied, 359 U.S,
911 (1959). In suits against States, as in other cases, if "the United States [is] only a nominal party,” then jurisdictional
prerequisites calling for its participation remain unsatisfied. U.S. v. State of Minnesota, 270 U.S. at 193, Analyzing that decision,
a commentator noted that direct interests are, instead, required:

The Court's response is illuminacing: "1t must be conceded that, if the Indians are the real parties in interest and the United
States only a nominal party, the suit 1s not within this Court's original jurisdiccion.” Notably, the Court cited, among other
authorittes, New Hampshire v. Louisiana as support for this staternent. Although the Court did conclude thar the United States
had a direct interest in the suit, the fact remains that such an interest must be present ro support jurisdiction.

Riga, "State Immunity in Bankruptcy after Seminole Tribe v. Florida," 28 Seton Hall L. Rev. 29, 62, text and n.177 (1997},
emphasis added.

The EEQC relies on Kansas v. Colorado, 121 S.Cr. 2023 {2001) in asserting that, without itself having direct interests in this
suit, it may "stand in the shoes" of individual claimants, barred by immunity from suing nonconsenting States, and thereby avoid
that bar. (EEQC brief, pp. 23-24.) [FNI] Kansas, and similar decisions, rested whether original jurisdiction was invoked over a
controversy between States, Nonetheless, the Board concurs with the EEQC that, with the constitutional authority allowing suir
against States being the same (U.S. Const., art, 11, s 2), this line of cases is directly pertinent to whether the United Stares may,
without articulating any direct interests of the United States, pursue claims, on behalf of individual claimants, otherwise barred by
immunity.

FNI. The EEQC also relies heavily on, and attaches to its brief, a copy of a Sixth Circuit decision that was, on its face,
"UNPUBLISHED" (EEQOC Appendix) without noting that status (EEOC brief, pp. 20-21). The Board, given the
cautions conveyed through Circuir Rule 53, refrains from citing this decision while noting that (1) unlike here, it
plainly involved a pattern and practice challenge to an entire retirement plan in which the EEQC sought extensive
injunctive relief and class-wide monetary relief (EEOC Appendix) and (2) this court, in EEOC v. North Gibson
School Corp., recognized that the Sixth Circuic is ar direct odds with this and other circuits regarding the status of the
EEQC when it seeks to obrain monetary relief for individual employees (266 F.3d at 614, n.7). The Board submies
that this unpublished decision is sufficiently unhelpful to merit further comment.

Kansas held chat the Eleventh Amendment was no bar to Kansas suing Colorado precisely because Kansas had clearly articulated
direct interests of its own. Kansas, [2] S.Ct. at 2029 (""the present proceeding is bur one of several in which Kansas' own interest
in preventing upstream diversions from the Arkansas River" is at stake and "a State propetly invokes our jurisdiction ... by seek
[ing] redress for a wrong perpetrated against it by a sister State” (emphasis added).) The Court emphasized chat, absent such
direct interests, suits by sister Stares were barred:

It is firmly established, and undisputed in this ligation, that the text of the Eleventh Amendment would bar a direct actron
against Colorado by citizens of Kansas. Moreover, we have several times held that a State may not invoke our original jurisdiction
when it 1s merely acting as an agenc or rrustee for one or more of its citizens. For example, in New Hampshire v. Louisiana, 108
US. 76, 2 5.Ct. 176, 27 LEd. 656 (1883), we refused to assume jurisdiction over an action to recover payment on defaulted
bonds that had been formally assigned to the state plaintiffs bur remained beneficially owned by private individuals. And, in
Notth Dakora v. Minnesota, 263 U.S, 365, 44 8.Ce. 138, 68 LEd. 342 (1923), we held that, while the plaintiffState could
obtain an injunction against the improper operation of Minnesota's drainage ditches, the Eleventh Amendment precluded an
award of damages based on injuries to individual farmers, where the damages claim was financed by contributions from the
farmers and the State had committed to dividing any recovery among the farmers "in proportion to the amount of [their] loss."
Id., ac 375, 44 5.Cr. [38.

Those cases make it clear that a "State is not permitted to enter a controvetsy as a nominal party in order to forward the claims
of individual citizens."” Maryland v. Louisiana, 451 LS, 725, 737; 101 8.Cr. 2114 [(1981); see also New Hampshire v.
Louisiana, 108 U.S. at 89, 2 S.Cr. 176 (Eleventh Amendment applies and acts to bar jurisdicrion where "che State and the
artorney-gencral are only nominal actors in the proceeding"). The "governing principle” is that in order to invoke our original
jurisdiction, "the State must show a direct interest of its own and not merely seek recovery for the benefit of individuals who are
the real parties in interest.” Oklahoma ex rel. Johnson v. Cook, 304 U.S. 387, 396, 58 5.Cr. 954, 82 LEd. 1416 (1938).

Kansas, 121 S.Cr. at 2029, emphasis added. Eleventh Amendment guarantees cannot be undone by one sovereign pursuing
private citizen claims against another sovereign:

The evident purpose of the amendment, so promptly proposed and finally adopted, was to prohibit all suits against a state by or
for citizens of other states, or aliens, without the consent of the state to be sued, and, in our opinion, one state cannot create a
controversy with another state, within the meaning of that term as used in the judicial clauses of the constitution, by assuming the
prosecution of debts owing by the other state to its citizens.

New Hampshire v. Louisiana, 108 11.S. 76, 91 (1883), emphasis added.

As of 1976, the Court, citing numerous decisions, declared that it was “settled doctrine that a State has standing to sue only
when its sovereign or quasi-sovereign interests are implicated and it is not merely liigating as a volunteer the personal claims of
its cirizens. [Citations omitted.]" Pennsylvania v. New Jersey, 426 U.S. 660, 665 (1976). It explained, in language significant
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here, that:

This rule is a salutary one. For if, by the simple expedient of bringing an action in the name of a State, this Court's original
jurisdicrion could be invoked to resolve what are, after all, suits to redress private grievances, our docket would be inundated.
And, more important, the critical distinction, articulated in Arc. 111, s 2, of the Constitution, between suits brought by "Citizens"
and those brought by "Stares" would evaporate.

Pennsylvania, 426 U.S. ar 665-66, emphasis added,

Immuniry "is a fundamental aspect of the sovereignty which the States enjoyed before the ratification of the Constitution, and
which they retain today ... except as altered by the plan of the Convention or certain consticutional Amendments” and the federal
government may sue Staces only to the extenr that was allowed through ratification of the United States Constitation or its
amendments. Alden, 527 U.S. ar 713 and 755-56, emphasis added. The Founders, and the States in ratifying the Constitution,
did not intend Sister States -- or the federal government -- to evade the States' immunity "by the simple expedient of bringing an
action in the name of a State" -- or the federal government -- "to redress private grievances." Pennsylvania, 426 U.S. at 665-66.

To be valid, "{s]uits brought by the Unired States itself require the exercise of political responsibility for each suit prosecuted
against a State, a control which is absent from a broad delegation to private persons ro sue nonconsenting States." Alden, 527
LIS at 756, emphasis added. Unless che federal government, exercising "political responsibility” {Alden, 527 U.S. at 756),
restricts itself to suing States when it pursues its own real and direct interests, "the critical distinetion, articulared in Art. I, s 2,
of the Constitution, between suits brought by 'Citizens' and those brought by ['the United States'] would evaporate.”
Pennsylvania, 426 U.S. at 663-66, emphasis added,

The only recent reported decision that appears to directly address the issue presented here is U.S. v. Mississippi Dept. of Public
Safecy, 59 F. Supp. 2d 374 (S.D. Miss. 2001), recon, denied. [FIN2] That court determined, in an ADA context, that the
Eleventh Amendment bars suit where the United States merely stands in the shoes of employees rather than invoking any partern
and practice authority. 159 F. Supp. 2d at 376-77. Here, the EEQC asserted ADEA claims, otherwise barred by the Eleventh
Amendment, to pursue private grievances by four former employees of the Board -- not to address any continuing alleged patterns
and practices of State unconstitutional misconduct, (App. 174-177, 9/14/00 Complaing, pp. 1-4.) Substantively, the Complaint
could, except for the named plaintiff, be easily mistaken for a routine ADEA complaint by employees pursuing their own
grievances. (App. 174-177, 9/14/00 Complainc, pp. 1-4.) The only injunctive relief granted was, at best, incidental (INR. 107) -
- with even a general "cease and desist” order being wholly inapplicable - to the driving goal of recovering monetary relief for
these four former employees who, not incidentally, wete permitted to rermain in the courtroom throughout the trial despire a
sequestration order for witnesses (Tr. [, pp. 32-33). The Eleventh Amendment may not be cast aside because a federal agency,
failing to exercise "political responsibility" (Alden, 527 U.S. at 756), decides to "stand in che shoes" (EEOC brief, p. 23) of
individual claimants. The Founders expected, and the States deserve, far more.

FN2. As documents incorporated into the attached Supplemental Appendix reflect, the United States sought
reconsideration in U.S. v. Mississippi Dept. of Public Safety and thar request was denied in November Z00T. (App.
166-173).

Immunity bars the EEOC's claims. Alternatively, immunity certainly bars the monetary relief awarded to the individual
claimants,

II. THE PLAINTIFF FAILED TOQ PRODUCE SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE OF WILLFUL AGE DISCRIMINATION
AND THE DISTRICT COURT SHOULD HAVE GRANTED THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR, JUDGMENT
AS A MATTER OF LAW.

A. Plaintiff's prima facie case of age discrimination.

Again recognizing that at this stage of the proceedings the court goes directly to an analysis of all the evidence rather than
concerns itself with an analysis of the prima facie case, it remains abundantly clear that the EEOC still has not produced
sufficient evidence to establish a prima facie case of age diserimination or that these four charging parties were laid off because of
their age, Specifically, the plaintiff presented absolutely no evidence that substantially younger, similarly situated employees were
treated more favorably. Radue v. Kimberly-Clark Corp., 219 F.3d €12, 619 (7th Cir. 2000); Fisher v. Wayne Dalton Corp,, 139
F.3d 1137, 1141 (7th Cir. 1998) {"substantially younger means at least ten years difference™). See also the Board's initial brief at
pp- 22-25 and the legal authorities cited therein,

Professor Bethea and Mr., Salemson had eighteen full-time academic staff employees whom they considered for elimination and
twelve of them were in the protected age group (App. 130). In the Acquisitions Department, there were three candidates for
layoff: Rosalie Robertson, 50, Mary Braun, 46, and Raphael Kadushin, also 46, and one half-time Acquisttions person, Joan
Strasbaugh. 48. There was no significant age difference between any of these employees, Thus, regardless of which employee was
retained, no reasonable inference of age discrimination could be drawn. The fact that Kadushin, who was the same age as Braun,
was retained does not permit an inference that the decision was morivated by age, Raphael Kadushin, 46, was retained for the
reasons discussed by Professor Bethea and Mr. Salemson in the Justification Memo {App. 140-151), and Rosalie Robertson, 50,
Mary Braun, 46, and Joan Strasbaugh, 48, were laid off and their positions were eliminated (App. 140-151).

Bethea and Salemson believed that Kadushin should be retained rather than Robertson, Braun or Strasbaugh because the Press
mtended to focus more on the humanities, Kadushin's area of expertise, and less on the social sciences, environmental and trade
books, arcas in which Robertson, Braun and Strasbaugh worked (T, 2-34, 2-35, 2-36).

Although similarly situared, the age of these four employees in Acquisitions does not permit the inference that age was a factor in
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this decision because Mr. Kadushin was not substantially younger than the other three employees.

In the Marketing Department, Chuck Evenson's position was simply eliminated; the mailing function was discontinued (Tr. 2-
109, 2-110). The Press had no legal obligation to bummp another employee simply because Evenson was in the protected age
category and his job was eliminated. The ADEA is neither a bumping statute nor 1s it a tenure statute. The ADEA does not
require special treatment for older workers. Radue, 219 F.3d ac 615. Nor did the Press have an obligation to find another
employee 1o bump or create another positton so thar Evenson could have been retained.

Chuck Evenson was a staff of one in the mailing department. His position was eliminated. There was not another similarly
situated employee in that department. Rebecca Gimenez was not similarly situared. According o David Bethea and Steve
Salemson, she was more technologically skilled and more creative than Evenson, and she was highly skilled in electronic
advertising, She was very efficient and a "bargain" because of her low salary (Tt 2-110, 2- TI1, 2-T12). Evenson, on the other
hand, had only minimal HTML work experience, whereas Gimenez had demonstrated her skill in this area. Id. There was no
evidence that Professor Bethea and Mr. Salemson did not honestly believe that Ms. Gimenez was more talented and more
versatile than Mr. Evenson.

The EEOC made no effort to present any evidence that the employees who were retained or those who were hired months later
possessed the analogous attributes, experience, education or qualifications as those whose positions were eliminated and who were
laid off. Nor did the district court make this inquity. Not one of these employees was similarly situated to the charging parties.

B. The Plaintiff did not present substantial evidence that age was a motivating factor in the Press' decision about which
employees 1o lay off. nor did the EEOC present substantial evidence that had the charging patties been younger than forty they
would not have been laid off.

To demonstrate pretext, the EEQC must present substantial evidence that the defendant's explanation for its action, in this case,
the Press' decision to lay off these four employees rather than four other employees, was a lie, a pretext for age discrimination; a
mere scintilla of evidence is not enough. Mathur v. Board of Ttrustees of Southern Ill. Univ., 207 F.3d 938, 943 (7¢h Gir. 2000).
The evidence must amply support the plaintiff's claim that the defendant's explanation is unworthy of credence.

There was absolutely no evidence from which a reasonable jury could have concluded char the layoff or the other cost reduction
methods implemented in May 1999 were a subterfuge to get rid of the four charging parties. The EEOC presented no evidence
that there was not in fact a financial crisis at the Press or that UW personnel and Press personnel did not believe that there was a
real financial crisis. Regardless of the numbers, there was a financial crisis at the Press in the Spring of 1999, and everyone,
including the charging parties, knew chis. {Tr. 2-179).

The only questions for the reviewing court are was there sufficient, substantial evidence to demonstrate that Professor Bethea and
Mr. Salemson's explanation why these four employees, rather than four other employees, were laid off was pretextual, a
fabrication, a lie, a fraud upon the court, and could a reasonable jury honesely conclude based upon the evidence that the tree
reason for the choice of these four employees, rather than four others, was age and if the charging parties had been younger,
maybe younger than forty, and everything else had remained the same, they would not have been laid off. Lane v. Hardee Food
Systems, Inc., 184 F.3d 705, 706-707 (7th Cir. 1999); Diettrich v. Northwest Airlines, Inc,, 168 F.3d, 961, 965 (7th Cir.
1999); Helland v. South Bend Community School Corp., 93 F.3d 327, 330 (7th Cir. 1996) (the pretext inquiry focuses on the
honesty not the accuracy of the employer's stated reasons). The plaintiff may make the requisite showing of pretext by providing
evidence that the proffered reasons are factually baseless, that the stated reasons were not the actual reasons for choosing these
employees for layoff, ot that the Press' explanation was insufficient to motivate the layoff of these four employees rather than
four other employees, Gordon v, United Airlines, Inc,, 246 F.3d 878, 888 (7th Cir. 2001). The EEOC did none of these.
Instead, the EEOC continued to argue the skills of the charging parties and that the process by which the decisions were reached
#*¢ were faulty and laden with mistakes and inaccuracies. This atrack on the Press does not address pretext.

If Professor Bethea and Mr. Salemson honestly believed cheir reasons for chaosing these four employees, these four positions,
rather than four others, the EEOC cannot meet this burden. Id. Aungst v. Westinghouse Elec. Corp.,, 937 F.2d 1216, 1220 (7th
Cir. 1991 Hartley v. Wisconsin Bell, Inc,, 24 F.3d 887, 890 {7ch Cir, 1997). The plainciff must provide specific evidence of
pretext for each of the Press’ explanations, and the EEOC did not do this. Challenging the Press' evaluation of the charging
parties’ credentials and expetience and skills does not address pretext. Mills v. First Fed. Sav, & Loan Ass 'n of Belvidere, 83 F.3d
833, 843 (7th Cir. 1996); Aungst, 937 F.2d at 1223 (evidence of the charging parties’ qualificarions and skills 1s a part of the
prima facie case, not pretext). Professor Bethea and Mr. Salemson were {ree to make the decisions about which employees would
best fudfill the Press' needs.

Professor Bethea and Mr. Salemson honestly believed that these four employees were the most expendable and that others
possessed the skills and qualificarions necessary to help the Press in the short and the long term (App. 136-151). Brill v. Lante
Corp., 119 E.3d 1266, 1273 (7th Cir. 1997); Hartley, 124 F.3d at 897. The EECC points to no evidence in the tecord that
Professor Bethea and Mr. Salemson did not believe in their explanations, Hartey, 124 F.3d ac 890. There is not a scintilla of
such evidence much less substantial evidence which would permir a reasonable jury to disregard the defendant's explanation.

There was not a scintilla of direct evidence of age discrimination nor was there any evidence of ageism comments or ageism.
Ransom v. CSC Consulting, Inc., 217 F.3d 467, 470 (7¢h Cir. 2000). The EEOC's "new vision argument," terms such as "hit
the ground running," beginning in 1995 when Mr. Salemson was hired, and reference to the pre-electronic era, when mass
mailings were the way of doing business, are not code words for age discrimination or ageism. Professor Bethea's reference to
Rebecca Gimenez as a talenred young woman, made seven months after the layoff, was not an ageist statement. Reeves v.
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Sanderson Plumbing Products, Inc., 530 US. 133, I51 (2000); Fortier v. Ameritech Mobile Communications, Inc,, 161 F.3d
1106, 1113 (7th Cie. 1998) (no liability for state such as "new blood," a lot of energy, or quick study). Courts and juries should
not infer discriminatory animus into staternents where none is apparent. See Markel v. Board of Regents of UW, 2002 WL
5692 *2 (7¢th Cir. Jan. 3, 2002). Salemson was older than the four charging parties and arguably part of what the EEOC called
the "new vision."

The fact that younger employees, including students and LTEs, were not laid off or were hired after the layoff does not permit
an inference of age discriminarion because none of these employees mentioned by the EEOC or the district court, Susan Jevens
(LTE, Tr. 1-174), Neinke Wijnia (LTE, Tr. 2-174), Will Morgan (Tr. 2-174}, Jenny Siefert ('Tt. 2-174), and Sheila
McMahon {classified staff who replaced two LTEs in acquisitions) (Tr. 2-55), were similarly situated or comparable in any way
to the charging parties. These employces were students, LTEs, or classified staff as opposed to the 18 academic staff, full-time
employees, including the charging parties, at the Press (Defendant's Exhibit 686, Tr. 2-55; App. 130).

No one other than the charging parties believed that they should have been retained rather than Mr. Kadushin in Acquisitions.
No witness said or demonstrated that the three charging parties were more qualified than Mr. Kadushin or that Bethea and
Salemson did not think that Kadushin was the more versatile person to retain in the Acquisitions Department. Bethea, Salemson
and Berry Steinberg believed that Kadushin was the appropriate person to retain. The EEQC did not dispute this evidence or
dernonstrate that it was not true. Thus, no pretexe,

Chuck Evenson's position in the Marketing Department was eliminated; no one replaced him. There was not substantial
evidence that Bethea and Salemson, or anyone remotely connected to the Press, did not honestly believe it was a sound business
decision to eliminate the direct mail function and Mr. Evenson's position, Thus, no pretext. The Press had no obligation to
bump anyone else, younger or not, to fred a place for Evenson, or to create a position simply because he had been ar the Press for
ten years. His job was eliminated: he was laid off.

No one testified char it was not a sound business decision to eliminate the direct mail function and Mr. Evenson's position. Even
if they had, there was no showing that Bethea and Salemnson and UW personnel did not believe that the direct mail function
should be eliminated. Thus, no pretext.

Once the Press presenced its explanation for why Professor Bethea and Mr. Salemson decided that these four employees were the
least versatile, the EEOC was required ro demonstrate for each of the charging parties that the explanation given was a pretext for
discrimination. The EEOC did not do this for any of the charging parries.

The EEOC did not present substantial evidence of pretext or age discrimination, and the districe court should have granted the
Board's motion for judgment as a matter of law. Diettrich v, Northwest Aitlines, Inc., 168 F.3d 961 (7th Cir. 1999), cert.
denied, 120 5.Ct. 48 (1999); Shank ». Kelly-Springfield Tire Co., 128 E3d 474 (7eh Cir. 1997) (because no evidence of precext
district courr should have granted motion for judgment as a matrer of law)

C. In the alternative, the EEOC did not present sufficient evidence to enable the jury to find that the actions of Professor Bethea
and Mr. Salernson were "willful" within the meaning of the ADEA,

The standard for willfiulness under the ADEA is clear. It requires reckless disregard for whether the conduct was prohibired by
the ADEA. TransWorld Aitfines, Inc. v. Thurston, 469 U.S. 111, 128 (1985). The Board respecefully contend’s that the
evidence did not support a willful violation of the ADEA. Both Professor Bethea and Mr. Salemson correctly believed that the
ADEA prohibited all age discrimination in employment decisions, and that is precisely the law, The ADEA does not say that it is
tlegal to discriminate only againse those who are over forty; however, the ADEA provides coverage only for those petsons over
forty who aflege age discrimination. The issue Is not over forty or under forty but age discrimination. Hartley, 124 F.3d ar 89.2.

Professor Bethea and Mr. Salemson believed that the ADEA applied to all personnel actions, and they are correct.

There was not sufficient evidence for a reasonable juty to conclude that they willfully violated the ADEA. Their understanding
of the law was correct, and the Board and the University were not negligent in training or educaring them abour their
responsibilittes under the ADEA.

HIT IN THE ALTERNATIVE, THE DISTRICT COURT SHOULD HAVE GRANTED THE DEFENDANTS
MOTION FOR ANEW TRIAL.

The jury's verdicts of willful age discrimination and the damage awards are not supported by substantial evidence, and the court
should have granted the Board's motion for a new trial to effectuate substantial justice.

As discussed in the Board's initial brief, none of the charging parties mitigated their damages as required by law because none of
them applied for any of the vacant positions at the Press after the layoff. They claimed they could perform any of the jobs at the
Press but they did not apply. They knew about the job openings at the Press but for vartous reasons none of them applied.
Rosalie Robertson did not apply for the Rebecca Gimenez vacancy (Tr. 3-11 (), nor the positions formerly held by Steve Miller
(Tr. 3-110) and Juliet Skulde (Tr. 3-111), nor the manuscript editor position or the administrative program spectalist position
(17, 3-110- 3-111)

Neither Joan Strasbaugh nor Mary Braun applied for any of these positions ar the Press (Tr. 3-93; 3-110, 3-11 1)

The charging parties were obligared to exercise reasonable diligence to mitigate their damages. U.S. EEOC v. Gurnice Inn Corp.,
914 F.2d 815, 817 (7th Cir. 1990). Because they did not pursue or apply for the vacant positions at the Press after their lapoff,
they did nor, as a matter of faw, properly mitigare their damages. In addicion, Chuck Evenson refused to take a test for
employment ar the Press and instead volunearily retired.

In finding willfil age discrimination, the jury was guided by emotion and sympathy, and they gnored the facts. They were
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prejudiced by the EEOC's inappropriate, blatantly unfafr remark in closing argument: "We wouldn't be here unless the faw had
been violared.” See the Board'’s discussion at p. 36 of its initial brief

IV, THE DISTRICT COUR T ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN AWARDING CERTAIN COSTS TO THE
PLAINTIFF,

The districe court was not authorized 1o award costs and expenses incurred by the charging parties and Dr. Tun, an EEOC
employee, to the EEOC,

The charging parties were the true parties in interest, and the disrict court recognized them as such by permitring them ro be
present during the entire trial despite a sequestration order (Tr. 1-32 to 1-35). The holding and rationale in EEOC v. Wal-Mart
Stores, Inc. 2000 U.S, Dist. LEXIS 1162029 (5.D. Il 2000) is appropriate in this case, and the court should reverse the
£5,516.99 n costs awarded to the EEOC.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons discussed herein and in the initial brief, the Board of Regents of the University of Wisconsin respectfully asks
this court to dismiss this action in its entirety, or in the alternative, to reverse the decisions of the districe courr and granr the
motion for judgment as a matter or law or the motion for a new trial and/or to vacate the district court's decisron awarding
certain costs to the plamneft,

EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPOR TUNITY COMMISSION, PlaimtifE-Appelfee, v. BOARD OF REGENTS OF THE
UNIVERSITY OF WISCONSIN SYSTEM, Defendane-Appellant.
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his is the second report by the Wage and Hour Division

Ndtior's most basic labor laws—especially in low-wage

industries.

and 2000.

The report covers Wage and Hour’s activities in 1999

The first rgport, the 1998 Report on Low-Wage Initiatives, Was

issued in Hebruary 1999.

Wage and Hour
Divi:»;lon Mission

“To achieve and promole

compliance with labor:
‘atandards through |
entorcement,
administrative, and
goucatipnal programs o
and ennance the”
weltare of the Nation's

winrkforae,
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‘ I the U,S. Department df Labor's Wage and
Hour Division is resppnsible for administer-

i 8 s N A R R

ing and enforcing a numbey of laws that esrablish

3

minimally acceptable standgrds for wages and
working conditions in this fountry. These labor
srandards statutes—includipg the Fair Labor
Srandards Act (FLSA), whi¢h sets che minimum
wage, overtime standards d child labor restric-

tions—prorect the most vulnerable in the work-
place, i.e., low-wage workets, che working poor
and children.

Nationwide, Wage and Hojur has approximarely
1,500 employees. By the end of 2000, 949 of
Wage and Hour staff were field investigacors—a

21% increase since 1996. These new staff, many of
M whom are bilingual, have Been deployed to those

B arcas of the country where chere are large numbers

@ of low-wage workers and lgvels of compliance are

N low.

é intermediary organizations and institurions that
In both 1999 and 2000, tie agency received provide services to workets and employers; and,
8 addirional funding from Congress. The agency’s

2000 operating budger waf $141.9 million—up 4 Design and implement 2 nationwide toll-

17% from the 1998 level, ind included additional free number and “expert” system to allow che
agency to respond more quickly and accurately to

funds sought and obrained to:

millions of information calls and thousands of

> Hige 36 addidional investigarors in 1999 @mpleyee complaints.

and 30 in 2000 to enhance compliance acrivities,

including child labar, in ghrment manufactusing fn addirion, Wage and Hour continued to receive

and agriculture; funding to pursue the process begun in 1999 for

updaring child labor hazardous orders to reflece
B Jmplement a natiqawide educacion iniga.  Surrent technologies, hazards, and other workplace

tive through non-traditiorjal partnerships with facrors.
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it inspired by rhe vision, ‘o

achieve universally applied faiv pracvices in

the American Workplace.”

imony of Bernard E. Anderson,
Assistans Secrergry for Employment Seandards,
before the Housd Educarion and the Workforce
Subcommirtee op Oversight and Invessigasions
June 27, 2000

he Government/|Performance and Resules Ace
(GPRA) calls o} agencics to identify their
ish meaningful challenging

core missions, estab

goals, and develop

ures that will give Con-

gress, the public and the agencies themselves 2

clear indicavion of the extenr to which progress is

being made towards the intended program results.

GPRA requires agendgas to develop strategic plans,

scrucrure their goals apd measures, and focus cheic

energies on achieving] significant improvements in

program results. GPRA—which is now an inte-

gral pare of the budggt process—provides the

structure and the frathework for Wage and Hour's

serategic goals,

Consistent with GPRA's intent, Wage and Hour

developed a new sysdm of measuring its progress

towards its goal of in¢reasing compliance with the

L laws it cnforces. Priof ro this new measuremenr,

determining compliance
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there was no other source of accurate, comprehen-

sive information for which o create reliable
compliznce darta.

In order to determine a starting point—a compli-

ance baseline—and whether progress is being
made towards achieving irs goal, Wage and Hour
develaped staistically valid investigation—based
surveys as the means of measuremenr.

These measurement instruments serve four basic

functions:

»  They constitute a form of intervention to
change compliance behavior because Wage and
Hour conducts full invesrigations in carrying our
the surveys;

»  They provide Wage and Hour, the public,
and the Congress with accurate measures of
compliance levels from which changes can be

assessed over the long termy

»  They inform the agency on industry-wide
non-compliance parterns from which stracegies for

changing behavior can be designed; and,

»  They measure how successful the agency was
in changing rhe compliance behavior of prior
violators (recidivists). These recidivism measure-
ments help the agency identify and replicare
effective forms of intcrventions, and carefully
evaluare unsuccessful incervention techniques.
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[nitially, 2 randomly selected representative num-
B ber of establishments within a rargeced industey
# are scheduled for investigation. From thesc investi-
gations, a baseline level of compliance is estab-
@ lished. Thereafrer, interver tions—based on Wage

and Hour's muld-prong cgmpliance strategy of

¥ onforcement, compliance feducation and parmer-

ships—arc designed and i plemented in the

COMPLIANCE

As early as the enactment of the Fair
Labor Standards Act (FLSA) in 1839, this
Country recognized that responsible
public policy decreed a basic guarantee
of minimum standards for workers. The
. FLSA—and those workplace laws that
A rargered industry. Such syrveys also provide have since followed—benefit and protect
: . . : ; : miltions of workers. And, for that reason,
2 insight for modiying surapegies and implementing compliance with these laws remains as
§l 2 course for subsequent ygars. crucial today as when first enacted. If we
' could say that each employer providas
Measurem¢nt Model all its workers with the compensation and
) workplace standards set forth in the laws
enforced by the Wage and Hour Division,
ey for B““#"“"' rventions then, as an agency, we will have
pliance “achieved” compliance. But having
rcement focused our attention and resources on
liance those industries with some of the most
nm:ip pervasive campliance problems in this
Country, we understand the dimensions
of the task that we have set for
Revised Re-survey to ourselves—violative smployment
Lrtervenions Meusure Lovet of practices are often long-standing and
Complarice pervasive, the extrinsic factors affecting
compliance are difficult to overcome and
the tools and resources for
accomplishing the task are limited. it
may be unrealistic to belleve that we will
obtain full and complete compliance, so
the goals we have establishad and the
strategies that we have depioyed are
geared toward achieving “substantial”
Rez-surviy o compliance as defined by the individual
N characteristics of the targeted industries.

Campliani.e

B changing behavior vo achi
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Wh-ilc Wage and Hour recognizes that
) resolving workerfcomplaints and reseoring

back wages ate important core functions of the

8 organization, we found—-in establishing five-year

TARGETING FACTORS

B surategic objectives—tha complaint-based investi-

R gations are not effective in securing widespread Enforcement data and history that

§ substantial compliance vithin an industry asa demonstrate high rates of violations or
8 whole. Only those indiv|dual employers investi- egregious violations, including data
that emerges from other agencies like

' . i ) the Department’s Occupational Safety
R alleging violations would be likely to change cheir and Heaith Administration, the Immi-

viclative behavior and. dfcen they would only gration and Naturalization Service, and
change behavior related ro particular kinds of State labor departments.

violarions identified duding the course of an

gated by Wage and Houf based on complaints

Workforce demographics that show
a high concentration of low-wage
workers. These workers are among the

investigation. In short, Wage and Hour complaint-

based interventions chahged some behaviors of an

individual employer, bjt they were not changing country’s more vulnerable—many are
the compliance behavigr of an entige industry. immigrant workers (legal ot illegal) who

become easy targets for exploitation.

] Low-wage warkers rarely complain or
able patterns of complijnce. seek assistance because they are
either unaware of or afraid to exerclse

In the early 1990s. beginning with agriculture.and their rights.
, Wage and Hour began

And, they were not profucing long-rerm sustain-

garment manufacturing

Changes in an industry—growth or
_ . decline—frequently impact compliance
wide compliance. Garment manufacruring became levels. Labor-Intensive industries

the first of three low-wage industrics targeted striving to compete in a changing, often
nationally. Agriculturcland healch care comprise global, marketplace may view labor as

shifting its strategies (oW

the other two. In addifion, Wage and Hour has a negotiable commadity at the &x-
_ X pense of the workers.
renewed its efforts co gxamine child labor compli-
ance in industries whepe the dara indicate thav the
risk of scrious injury of young workers is greatest. J
M —— p—— —— —

To dare, Wage and Hpur has dctermined baseline
levels of compliance 1 12 industries or industry

sectors, and has conddcred subsequent surveys in
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Levels of Compliance in Nationally Targeted Industrics

Ty T A ST R ALy B A T,
P B v, oS IR

Lo Angeles

Baseline Level of Current Lovel of
Compliance Compliance

Percent in Year Percent in Year

Compliance | Detsrmined. | Compliance | Determined

San Francisco

New York City

Mursing Homes

Residential Care

"Salad Bowl" Com

Tomatoes

Onions

Cucuinbers

Lettuce

Garlic

Poultry Processing

Reforestation

L

Fult Service Restaujants

Fast Food Restaurdnts

Grocery Stores
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) ﬁ s imporrantly, eve
: nd Hour office
¥ industries and carries ©

¥ within irs jurisdiction. I
| and Hour offices condu

8 surveys in 3 number of

8 industry secrors. All but

NE Region-wide

regiona! and local Wage
do targers local low-wage
child labor initiatives

h 1999 and 2000, Wage
ted statistically valid
ocally-targeted industries/.

two of these surveys

;omphance Rat

established baselincs. The two surveys—the

Low-Wage Industry

Sourheast Region’s Hotel/Mortel initiative, and the
Seartle District Office’s State of Washingron Adult
Family Homes initiacive—were resurveys of a
rargeted industry. The level of compliance in the
Southeast Region’s Hotel/Mortel initiative declined.
The level of compliance for the State of Washing-
ron Adule Family Homes stayed the same.

cs i Local Low Wage Industics
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Richmond, VA Automobile Repair

Pittsburgh, PA Restaurants 50% 1899
Pennsylvania Day Care AT% 2000
Long Island, NY Radiology Offices

Security Guards

South Carolina

SE Region-wide HotelMotel

Tennessee Day Care

Carolinas Consumer LoanMortgage 57% 2000

Gulf Coast, AL Day Care 33% 2000
. Child Labor Recidivism in

South Carolina Myrtle Beach 88% 2000

Jacksonville, FLJ Florists 81% 2000
Louisville, KY Courty Jails 74% 2000
South Florida Security Quards 60% 2000
Tampa, FL Full Senice Restaurants 53% 2000

1 The 1968 survey Tmermlned a baseiine of 72%,
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Compliance Rates in Local Low-Wage Industrics
Chicago, 1L Restaurants 42% 1998
indianapolis, IN Restauwrards 47% 1899
Kansas City, MO Day Care 24% 1989
Minneapolis, MN Gas Stations 70% 1999
Columbus, OH Restaurants 72% 2000
Des Moines, 1A gthci,lrc;;_abor in Grocery 48% 2000
Minneapalis, MN Rainbow Foods Stores 5% 2000
Kansas City, MO Day Care 556% 2000
St. Louis, MO Nursing Homes 50% 2000

Springfield, IL

Day Care

Roofing
Salt Lake City, UT Fast Food Restaurants 58% 1999
New Mexico & Texas Red Chill Peppers 44% 2000

Restaurants

g
Hotels/Motels

Adutt Family Homas

Los Angeles CA Grocery Stores 57% 2000
Los Angsles, CA Garlic A7% 2000
Phoenix, AZ Restaurants 77% 2000
Phoenix, AZ Produce Sheds 69% 2000

Portlard, OR Restaurants 81% 200Q
Partland, OR Pharmacies 98% 2000
Seatile, WA Adult Family Homes 53% 20007
West Covina, CA Child L abor 94% 2000
West Covina, CA Residerfial Care 35% 2000

2 The 1689 survey damr1r|imd a bagelina of 52%.
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rategic approac

everal years ago, like many other agencies,

r began experiencing the
iminishing budgets and

es. As available resources
1980s and eagly 1990s, we
ities, like the implementa-
edical Leave Act in 1993,

, we began to think more

Wage and Hou

effeces of downsizing, d
increasing responsibilit
steadily declined in the
faced added responsibi
tion of the Family and
To meer these challen
strategically—to rechink compliance prioricies by

defining specific ourcomes and strategic goals.
These carly effocts proyided the basis for the
Wation of Wage and Hour's

development and arric
“mission” staremenc, which defines for the public

and the organization the fundamenral reason for

the agency's existence 4nd our principal opera-

tional purpose.

portant mission, Wage and

In parr, to fulfill ies i

Hour established rwo broad interrelated and
mutually-supporting sgrategic goals that guide our
planning, program operation and the allocation of

resources over the long term:

Achieve compliance with laws and
regulations administered and en-
forced by Wage and Hour; and,

Improve customer satisfaction with
the services that Wage and Hour
provides.

These broad strategic[goals provide consistency

and constancy with tr agency's mission at all
on.

levels of the organiza
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And, in curn, these goals have guided the develop-
ment of short-term objecrives and activicies. Wage
and Hour esablished three objectives 1o achieve
tabor law compliance—the core of our worker
protection program—and chree customer sarisfac-
tion objectives. They are to:

Achieve Compliance in

Nadonally identified low-wage garment manufac-
turing, agriculture, and health care industries; and,
regionally/locally identified low-wage industries
(such as restaurants, guard services, janitorial
services, temporary help, hotels/motels) including
in rural areas and small towns.

Improve employers’ knowledge—especially new
and small businesses—of Wage and Hour laws and
processes in order to promote compliance.

Increase Jevel of employers’ compliance following a
Wage and Hour intervention to reduce recidivism.
Improve Customer Satisfaction

. . . among workers seeking our services.

. . . among employers.

. . . among others seeking our services, including

contracting agencies.
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Wigc and Hour usesla multi-prong approach

of enforcement, cqmpliance education,
and partnerships o increage compliance with the

labor standards for which if has responsibility.

The enforcement compongnt of out comprehen-
sive approach includes theluse of tradicional
enforcement tools like investigations; the assess-

ment of civil money pem]fics (fines) for repeac

strategies for inc

and willful violacions; targered strike forces in low-
wage industries; and the LSA “hot goods” provi-
sion. New tools, such as qbraining the

“disgorgement” of ill-goreen guins from the sale of
“hot-goods” and expanding referrals for criminal
prosecution and civil Litigation for injunctions are

also being used.

Over the last decade, Wage and Hour has in-
creased the proportion off its compliance efforts in
“directed” or “rargered” ifivestigations-—as opposed
to “complaint-based” invpstigations—from 25
percent to 30 percent. Targeted investigations are

used to deter and remedy violations in predomi-

nately low-wage industrigs where violations are Elaws is an interacrive internet-based tool which
more often egregious and complains less com- provides easy-to-understand expert advice on basic
mon. FLSA requirements and the Family and Medical

Leave Act. A separate module covers the Federal
Compliance education ircludes such activides as child labor requirements. The interactive format

seminars for employers and employer associations;  tailors answers based on the user's responses to a

cown hall meerings for workers; and distriburion ser of questions. Informarion can be accessed
B of a variety of compliande assistance materials, directly from the Depactment of Labor’s home
R including facr sheers, co mpliance manuals and page at www.dol.gov/elaws.

palm cards.
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age and Hour employs various partner-

ships to leverage its limited resources and
broaden the impacr of other strategies. The vast
majority of Wage and Hour’s partnership agree-
menus result from enforcement actions involving
specific employers and/or cheir commercial con-

[ 3:sres of Inveslignic sumers. However, partnerships also evolve from
l Hokulzation S our work with employer associations and other
stakeholders.

Compliance agreements involving mulri-establish-
ment employers usually require corporations to
rake certain proactive steps to assure current and
fucure compliance throughour all corporate (and
somerimes franchise) establishments. Parcnerships
with commercial suppliers and consumers of 2
violaring employer’s goods/services also can be
i, effective in promoting compliance on a broader
rlorc e ntplan scale. And, the development and maintenance of
Recont W ond Yoarplated cases inthah relationships with non-profic and community-

based organizations, States, and ocher Federal
I eary spnir by Atel Cugllo, Jr, Basilic )

i of hnmoRle, agencies can help Wage and Hour reach low-wage
employees, develop strategies for compliance and

coordinate enforcement efforrs.

PARTNERSHIPS WITH STATES

e Willie Warraen,

‘ Creating and maintaining partnerships with State
ror contractor (FL

labor agencles is an important part of increasing
the effectiveness of our enforcement, educa-
tional, and outreach efforts. Wage and Hour
employs a number of strategles aimed at
advancing the cooperative effort between the
Federal government and the States, like con-
ducting a number of joint presentations, meet-
ings, compliance seminars in many States;
entering into a number of Memoranda of Under-
standing and joint resolutions; and participating
in cooperative educational outreach programs
with leaders in low-wage industries.

rily W
gram <
taing y
and hzatth
months laie
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